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Financial Highlights Continuing Operations

2002 2001

Profits

EBITDA (1) $372m $541m

Operating profit $331m $490m

Profit before tax $332m $523m

Earnings per share 121.5c 153.7c

Dividends per share 72.0c 64.0c

Cash flow
Trading cash flow per share 118.9c 242.9c

Free cash flow per share (4.6)c 129.0c

Balance sheet
Equity interests $675m $1,077m

Net (borrowings)/cash and deposits $(155)m $523m

Gearing (2) 23% nil

(1) EBITDA is Group operating profit
before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation.
(2) Gearing is calculated on the equity
interests of the Group.
(3) The Board recommends a final
dividend of 42.0 cents per share payable
on 17 February 2003 to shareholders on 
the registers on 24 January 2003. 

Important note

This document contains detailed financial and statutory information for the Lonmin Group for the year ended 30 September 2002. It should, however, be

read in conjunction with a separate document entitled Lonmin Plc Annual Review 2002.
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The Lonmin Plc group is focused on the mining and refining of PGM’s. 

Lonmin Plc is the third largest primary platinum producer in the World and 
the only PGM’s producer with a primary listing on the London Stock Exchange. 

Lonmin Plc holds a 72.9% interest in Lonplats and a 28% interest in Ashanti Goldfields.

Lonmin’s operations in South Africa, known as Lonplats, operates as Western Platinum
Limited (WPL) and Eastern Platinum Limited (EPL). WPL includes Western Platinum
Mine, Karee Mine, the Base Metal Refinery and Smelter and Western Platinum Refinery.

The mines are located in the Marikana district to the east of the town of Rustenburg in
the North West Province of South Africa and the refinery is situated in Brakpan in the
Gauteng Province of South Africa. Two PGM’s-bearing reefs (UG2 and Merensky) are
mined simultaneously in the lease area over a strike of some 27 kilometres, and at an
average depth of 360 metres. Underground mining predominates, although opencast
mining has been undertaken.

Base metals are produced at the Base Metals Refinery and a precious metal concentrate is
sent to Brakpan for final refining. Western Metal Sales Limited markets the PGM’s
produced by both WPL and EPL.

Lonplats mines and refines platinum, palladium, rhodium, ruthenium, iridium and gold.
The five PGM’s share many of the same physical and chemical properties whether used
in isolation or as a blend, including:

• Rarity

• Outstanding catalytic properties

• Resistance to oxidation

• Resistance to acid corrosion

• Stable electrical properties

• Elevated melting points
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Financial Review

Introduction
During the year, the Company bought back 10.4 million
shares at a cost of $128 million, returned capital of 
$361 million to shareholders (of which $1 million
remained unclaimed at 30 September 2002) and
redenominated its share capital from Sterling into US
dollars. An investment of a further $75 million in Ashanti
was also made.

Analysis of results
Profit and loss account

Turnover decreased by 20% from $866 million in 2001 to
$697 million in 2002 due to lower average PGM prices
realised in the year despite a growth in output of 8%.
Production costs were lower than last year due to a
devaluation in the South African rand of 20% even though
PGM ounces produced increased by 8% to 1,467,525 troy
ounces from 1,357,301 troy ounces. EBITDA amounted to
$372 million in 2002 compared with $541 million in 2001
and the reduction in depreciation of $12 million in 2002 to
$39 million arose largely because 2001 included an
impairment provision of $12 million on fixed assets held
in Zimbabwe. Net interest receivable of $1 million in 2002
was lower than last year due to lower interest rates and
borrowings arising in the Group following the capital
return to shareholders in February 2002. The resulting
profit before tax amounted to $332 million in 2002, a
decrease of 37% on last year’s profit before tax of $523 million.

The tax charge for 2002 was $75 million compared with
$150 million in 2001. Offsetting the tax charge were 
US dollar exchange profits of $53 million in 2002 and 
$46 million in 2001. These arose due to the devaluation 
in the South African rand during the year resulting in
payments in US dollar amounts being lower than the
originally accrued amounts and the provision for deferred
tax reducing accordingly. The weakening of the rand also
gave rise to taxable realised exchange profits in the local
South African rand books of account of $5 million 
(2001 – $6 million). These exchange profits arose primarily
on sales where rand receipts were higher than those
originally booked at the point of sale. Excluding the effects
of the US dollar exchange profits and the locally taxable
exchange gains, the effective tax rate was 37% in 2002
compared with 36% in 2001.

Minority interest for the 2002 year was $72 million
compared with $99 million in 2001, the reduction due to
lower profits in the platinum operations in South Africa
and profit for the 2002 year fell by 32% to $185 million
from $274 million in 2001. Earnings per share were 

121.5 cents in 2002 based on a weighted average number 
of shares outstanding of 152 million compared with 
153.7 cents for the prior year on a weighted average
number of shares outstanding of 178 million. 

Balance sheet

Equity interests reduced from $1,077 million at 30
September 2001 to $675 million at 30 September 2002.
The reduction in equity interests included the return of
capital to shareholders which was approved by the Court
in February 2002 of $361 million and share buybacks by
the Company of 10 million shares at a cost of $123 million
during October 2001 and 0.4 million shares at a cost of 
$5 million during August 2002. The retained profit for 
the year amounted to $84 million after interim and final
dividends declared of $42 million and $59 million
respectively. At 30 September 2002 there were 141 million
$1 ordinary shares in issue.

Fixed assets include the subscription by the Company,
during June 2002, for $75 million of mandatorily
exchangeable notes in Ashanti. This additional investment
in Ashanti was made to assist it in its financial restructuring
plans and to protect against the dilution in the value of
Lonmin’s stake. Ashanti continues to be accounted for as a
fixed asset investment.

Net borrowings at 30 September 2002 amounted to 
$155 million. Gearing was 23% on the equity interests of
the Group and 18% on the equity and minority interests 
of the Group. A $355 million loan facility was negotiated
during the year of which $130 million was drawn at 
30 September 2002. The capital structure of the balance
sheet remains under constant review with a view to
optimising its efficiency.

The table on page 3 summarises the main components 
of the cash flow during the year. Trading cash flow was 
$181 million during 2002, a 58% decrease on the trading
cash flow of $433 million achieved during 2001. The
decrease was largely due to the lower net cash inflow 
from operating activities of $359 million in 2002 as a
consequence of lower commodity prices reducing
profitability (2001 – $525 million). Corporation tax
payments made in South Africa of $181 million were 
66% higher than 2001 and included the payment of
outstanding liabilities from 2001 together with payments
on account of 2002 profits. The resulting trading cash flow
per share was 118.9 cents compared with 242.9 cents for
the prior period.
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Capital expenditure of $152 million showed an increase 
of 32% on the prior period. This increase was somewhat
offset by the depreciation of the South African rand
during the year and expenditure stated in rand increased
by 66% from R936 million to R1,558 million. Minority
dividends paid totalled $36 million and the resulting 
free cash flow was a negative $7 million or (4.6) cents 
per share.

After accounting for amounts spent on other financial
investment, shares issued and bought back, the capital
return and dividends, the cash outflow for the year was
$679 million resulting in net borrowings of $155 million
at 30 September 2002.

Dividends

In line with the policy outlined in the circular to
shareholders on the return of capital dated 20 December
2001, dividend declarations are now based on the reported
earnings for the year, but taking into account the projected
cash requirements of the business. The traditional 
one-third/two-thirds split of the total dividend between
interim and final declarations is no longer being followed.

The Board recommends a final dividend of 42.0 cents
(2001 – 40.0 cents) making total dividends for the year of
72.0 cents (2001 – 64.0 cents). This represents a cover of
1.7 times on earnings (2001 – 2.4 times).

Financial risk management
The Group’s functional currency remains the US dollar
and the share capital of the Company is now based in 
US dollars.

The Group does not undertake any trading activity in
financial instruments.

Refinancing of Ashanti

During the year, the Company granted 12.4 million 
non-transferable put options to Ashanti shareholders,
exerciseable in three equal tranches on 28 April 2004, 
28 October 2004 and 28 April 2005, all at a strike price 
of $3.00 per share. At 30 September 2002, there were 
5.8 million of these put options outstanding with the 
balance of 6.6 million having lapsed. A theoretical value 
of the options has been calculated using an options 
pricing model and has been disclosed in the notes to the

Note

The difference between the opening net cash and deposits of $523 million

and the closing net borrowings of $155 million was made up of the cash

outflow shown above of $679 million and exchange on non-US dollar

amounts of $1 million.

Cash flow

2002 2001
$m $m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 359 525

Interest 3 17

Tax (181) (109)

Trading cash flow 181 433

Capital expenditure (152) (115)

Minority dividends (36) (88)

Free cash flow (7) 230

Acquisitions and disposals – (6)

Other financial investment (78) (11)

Shares – issued 3 4

– bought back (128) (19)

Capital return (360) –

Equity dividends paid (109) (110)

Cash (outflow)/inflow (679) 88

Trading cash flow per share 118.9c 242.9c

Free cash flow per share (4.6)c 129.0c
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Financial Review

Accounts as a contingent liability. The contingent liability
at 30 September 2002 amounted to $3 million. The
number of put options outstanding at 22 November 2002
reduced to 2.5 million due to further lapses resulting in a
contingent liability value of $1 million.

Interest rate risk

Monetary assets and liabilities are subject to the risk 
of movements in interest rates. The borrowings at 
30 September represented amounts outstanding on the
Lloyds $355 million bank facility of $130 million in
London bearing interest at floating rates, and, an overdraft
of $56 million and an outstanding finance lease obligation
of $3 million in South Africa. Cash deposits represented
balances of $7 million in London and Zimbabwe and 
$27 million in South Africa.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk measures the risk that the Group may not
be able to meet its liabilities as they fall due and, therefore,
its ability to continue trading. The Group’s policy on
overall liquidity is to ensure that there are sufficient
committed facilities in place which, when combined with
available cash resources, are sufficient to meet the funding
requirements in the forseeable future. At the year end, the 

Group had $405 million of committed facilities in place,
of which $140 million were drawn down.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises when movements in exchange
rates, particularly the US dollar against the South African
rand, affect the transactions the Group enters into,
reported profits and net assets. Most of the Group’s
operations are based in South Africa and the entire
revenue stream is in US dollars. Most of the cash held in
South Africa is in US dollars and is remitted to the UK 
on a quarterly basis. Short-term working capital facilities
required in South Africa are drawn in US dollars or South
African rand as appropriate.

Commodity price risk

Commodities trade on worldwide commodities markets
and are subject to price fluctuations. Therefore, the prices
obtained are dependent upon the prevailing market prices.
Any change in prices will have a direct effect on the
Group’s trading results. No forward selling of metals
occurred during the year.

John Robinson
Finance Director
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The Directors of Lonmin Plc submit their Report 
together with the audited Accounts for the year ended 
30 September 2002.

Group Activities
Lonmin Plc is a focused mining company with its
principal interests in platinum group metals. It also has 
an investment in Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited. 

Analyses of Group turnover, EBITDA (Group operating
profit before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation),
operating profit and profit before taxation, analysing
between principal activities and geographical origins,
appear in Note 1 to the Accounts and a list of the principal
subsidiary undertakings, indicating their main activities,
appear on page 56.

A review of developments and of likely future
developments in the principal trading operations of the
Group is given in the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief
Executive’s Statement and the Reviews each contained
within the separately published Annual Review.

Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited (“Ashanti”)
In June 2002 the Company subscribed for $46.6 million 
of mandatorily exchangeable notes (“MENs”) issued by a
subsidiary of and guaranteed by Ashanti in connection
with Ashanti’s financial restructuring plan.

The MENs are mandatorily exchangeable into Ashanti
shares as part of a planned rights issue that will offer to 
all Ashanti shareholders the opportunity to take up their
pro-rata share in the restructuring. Conversion of the
MENs will be at the rights issue price, but in no event at 
a price per Ashanti share of more than $5.40 unless with
the Company’s consent. In the event of Ashanti being
unable to launch a rights issue by 27 December 2003, the
MENs will convert into Ashanti equity at $5.40 per share,
subject to Ashanti shareholder approval. The Government
of Ghana has undertaken to vote in favour of the
conversion. Until the proposed rights issue is completed
or the MENs are otherwise exchanged into Ashanti shares,
the MENs will constitute unsecured debt of the Ashanti
group repayable on 30 June 2008, subordinated to an
enlarged revolving credit facility.

In addition, the Company also subscribed for a further
$28.4 million of MENs, which are subject to a call option
granted to the Government of Ghana in order to enable it
to maintain its stake in Ashanti. The call option will
expire on 27 December 2003 or, if earlier, five days prior to
completion of the rights issue.

The Company has granted put options to certain warrant
holders at a strike price of $3.00 per Ashanti share in
relation to 12.4 million shares that, at June 2002, were
issued as a result of early exercise of the existing warrants
in Ashanti resulting in new equity coming into Ashanti.
The put options, which are not transferable, are
exercisable in three equal tranches on 28 April 2004, 28
October 2004 and 28 April 2005. As at 30 September 2002
and 22 November 2002 the number of shares subject to
the put options had fallen to 5.8 million and 2.5 million
respectively. None had been exercised.

Independence Gold Mining (Pvt) Limited
(“Independence”)
On 28 October 2002 the Group sold Independence, which
owned the gold mining assets in Zimbabwe, to Pemberton
International Investments Limited for a cash sum of
US$15.5 million paid in full on completion. The sale will
be accounted for in the year ending 30 September 2003.

Accounting Policies
The Lonmin Group financial statements are presented in
accordance with UK generally accepted accounting
principles.

The Group’s functional currency is the US dollar. The
Group adopted the US dollar as its reporting currency
with effect from 1 October 1998. 

Group Results
An analysis of the Group results for the year is given in the
Financial Review on pages 2 to 4.

Dividends
The Board recommends a final dividend for the year of 
42 cents. Subject to the approval of shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend
will be paid on 17 February 2003.

An interim dividend for the year of 30 cents was paid on
16 August 2002.

The total dividend for the year is therefore 72 cents per
share (2001 – 64 cents).

Share Capital and Reserves
The authorised and issued share capital of the Company at
30 September 2002 and matters relating thereto are set out
in Notes 20 and 21 to the Accounts.

Total share capital and reserves of the Group amounted to
$675 million at 30 September 2002. This compares with
$1,077 million at 30 September 2001.

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 30 September 2002
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Full details of the Group and Company reserves and of
movements therein during the year are given in Notes 22
and 34 to the Accounts.

On 22 February 2002 the share capital of the Company
was reduced and redenominated, following which 
£252 million ($361 million) surplus cash was returned to
shareholders, who received 150 pence in cash and 21 new
ordinary shares of US$1 each for every 25 ordinary shares
of £1 each previously held. In addition 50,000 Sterling
Deferred Shares of £1 each were created and issued. 
The principal objective of the capital reduction was to
improve the efficiency of the Group’s balance sheet and to
enhance returns to shareholders. Further details are given
in Notes 20 and 22 to the Accounts.

Pursuant to the authority granted at the Annual General
Meeting on 15 February 2001 the Company in October
2001 bought back in the market and cancelled a total of 
10 million ordinary shares of £1 each, representing 
5.64 per cent of the issued share capital as at 30 September
2001, at a total cost of £85 million ($123 million). Pursuant
to a similar authority granted at the Extraordinary General
Meeting on 25 January 2002 the Company in August 2002
bought back in the market and cancelled a total of
400,000 ordinary shares of $1 each, representing 0.28 per
cent of the issued share capital before those purchases
were made, at a total cost of £3 million ($5 million). These
purchases have resulted in an improvement in earnings
per share. A new authority to make market purchases of
the Company’s shares will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

Loans
Details of long and short-term loans are shown in Note 16
to the Accounts.

Directorate
The present Board of the Company is as set out on page 24
of the Annual Review. All the Directors named were
Directors throughout the year with the exception of 
Mr P C Godsoe who was appointed a non-Executive
Director with effect from 29 November 2001 and 
Mr P J Ledger who was appointed an Executive Director 
on 21 November 2002. Mr P J Harper retired as a non-
Executive Director on 26 October 2002.

At the forthcoming Annual General Meeting Sir John
Craven and Sir Alastair Morton retire by rotation 
and Mr P J Ledger retires having been appointed since 
the last Annual General Meeting. Being eligible, they 
offer themselves for re-election. Sir John Craven and 
Sir Alastair Morton are non-Executive Directors and have

no service contract with the Company and are not 
entitled to any notice period. Mr Ledger is entitled to 
364 days’ notice.

Biographical details of all Directors are given on page 24 
of the Annual Review. 

Directors’ Interests
No Director had at any time during the year a material
interest in any contract of significance in relation to the
Company’s business. 

The following interests of the Directors who held office at
the end of the year and of Mr P J Ledger are recorded in 
the Company’s Register of Directors’ Share and
Debenture Interests. The interests of Directors in shares
under the Company’s share option schemes are shown 
in the Directors’ Report on Remuneration on page 16. 
All interests in the table are beneficial.

Lonmin Plc Lonmin Plc
Ordinar y Shares Ordinar y Shares

of £1 each of $1 each (1)

1.10.01 30.9.02
and

26.11.02

Sir John Craven 193,859 42,770

I P Farmer – 2,680

P C Godsoe (2) – 15,597

P J Harper (3) 22,729 18,030

G E Haslam 3,132 18,030

S E Jonah 9,766 16,034

P J Ledger (4) 39,640

Sir Alastair Morton 1,543 1,296

J R B Phillimore 2,851 2,508

J N Robinson 8,745 7,595

Notes

1. During the year the share capital was reduced and redenominated and

shareholders received 150 pence in cash and 21 new ordinary shares 

of US$1 each for every 25 ordinary shares of £1 each previously held.

2. The interest of Mr P C Godsoe shown in the first column is at 

29 November 2001, being his date of appointment as a Director.

3. Mr P J Harper retired as a Director on 26 October 2002 and his interest

shown in the second column is only at 30 September 2002.

4. The interests of Mr P J Ledger are shown only as at 26 November 2002

since he was only appointed as a Director on 21 November 2002. 

The 39,640 shares in which he is interested are held by The Lonmin Plc

Share Trust pursuant to The Lonmin Plc Share Plan. 40 per cent and 

60 per cent of those shares will pass into his ultimate ownership on 

1 January 2005 and 1 January 2007 respectively, subject, normally, to 

his remaining within the employment of the Group. That Trust also

holds an additional 296,360 shares for other key managers of Lonmin

Platinum and Mr Ledger has a non-beneficial interest in those shares.

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 30 September 2002
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Substantial Shareholdings 
As at 22 November 2002 the Company was aware of the following interests in three per cent or more of the Company’s
issued ordinary share capital. 

Notes

The interests of Newton, Merrill, Scottish Widows, Henderson, 

J.P. Morgan, Schroder, AEGON and Legal and General are held as 

fund managers on a discretionary basis for undisclosed principals. 

Of the interests of AEGON, interests in 4,389,275 shares have been

notified pursuant to the requirements of Section 198 of the Companies 

Act 1985 (“the Act”).

The interests of Prudential consist of both beneficial holdings and those

managed on a discretionary basis for undisclosed principals. Interests in

4,442,054 shares have been notified pursuant to the requirements of

Section 198 of the Act.

The interests of Deutsche are held on behalf of a number of clients whose

portfolios are managed on a discretionary basis by companies within

Deutsche acting as fund managers.

The interests of Fidelity arise in the context of passive investment activities

only by the various investment accounts managed by Fidelity on a

discretionary basis. Fidelity is a non-beneficial holder. Interests in

5,821,890 shares have been notified pursuant to the requirements of

Section 198 of the Act. 

The interests of Zurich and its Group are held either as a beneficial owner

or as a fund manager on a discretionary basis for undisclosed principals.

Charitable and Political Donations in the United
Kingdom
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
in the United Kingdom amounted to £62,105 ($91,546).
No political donations were made. The Group also made
contributions to social welfare causes in South Africa
during the year amounting to R29.9m ($2.8m).

In addition the Company has granted, for a nominal
service charge, a licence to the African Medical and
Research Foundation United Kingdom (AMREF UK) 

to occupy temporarily spare offices at the Company’s 
head office in central London. AMREF is Africa’s largest
indigenous health charity and promotes African
initiatives for sustained health across the Continent. 
The organisation tests new ideas through operations
research, trains disadvantaged communities through
capacity building and advocates for policy change at an
international level. This has significant impact on health
burdens such as HIV/AIDS which is a major concern to
the Lonmin Group. Mr J R B Phillimore is a member of the
Council of Management of AMREF UK.

Number of Percentage
Lonmin Plc of the Company’s

shares issued share capital

Prudential plc, M&G Group Limited and M&G Limited
(“Prudential”) 11,282,648 8.00

Newton Management Limited (“Newton”) 8,585,178 6.09

Merrill Lynch Investment Managers Limited (“Merrill”) 8,331,096 5.91

Scottish Widows Investment Partnership Limited 
(“Scottish Widows”) 7,802,560 5.53

Deutsche Bank AG (“Deutsche”) 6,690,448 4.75

FMR Corp and Fidelity International Limited and certain
of their direct and indirect subsidiaries (“Fidelity”) 6,250,713 4.43

Henderson Global Investors Limited (“Henderson”) 5,760,409 4.09

J.P. Morgan Securities Limited (“J.P. Morgan”) 5,392,281 3.83

Schroder Investment Management Limited (“Schroder”) 5,145,473 3.65

Zurich Financial Services (“Zurich”) 5,119,771 3.63

AEGON Asset Management UK (“AEGON”) 4,816,425 3.42

Legal and General Investment Management Limited
(“Legal & General”) 4,657,260 3.30
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Research and Development
Group companies continue to be actively involved in
research and development projects in the areas of mineral
extraction and refining. Further information is given 
on pages 12 and 14 of the Review of Operations in the
Annual Review.

Policy on the Payment of Creditors
The Company complies with and has registered its
support of the Better Payment Practice Code issued by the
Better Payment Practice Group from whom information
about and a copy of the Code can be obtained at c/o Polhill
Communications, 48 Artillery Lane, London E1 7LS. 
The Company thus has a consistent policy of paying its bills
in accordance with contracts. It is the Company’s policy 
to settle the terms of payment with its suppliers when
agreeing the terms of each transaction, either by accepting
suppliers’ terms of payment or by ensuring that suppliers
are made aware of alternative terms of payment, and to
abide by the terms of payment. Trade creditors of the
Company at 30 September 2002 represented 4.54 days of
annual purchases.

Pension Schemes
There are now two pension schemes of Lonmin Group
companies in the United Kingdom – the Lonmin
Superannuation Scheme and The Scottish and Universal
Investments Limited Group Pension and Life Assurance
Scheme. Each Scheme has independent investment
managers. From time-to-time the investment managers
will hold on behalf of each Scheme small investments 
in Lonmin shares. Neither Scheme has entered into any
stock lending or loans to Lonmin Group companies or
anyone else. 

Auditors
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG Audit Plc 
as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting
The 2003 Annual General Meeting will be held at 11.00 am
on Thursday 30 January 2003 at The Ball Room, The Park
Lane Hotel, Piccadilly London W1. The Notice of Meeting
is set out on pages 33 to 35 of the Annual Review and
contains an explanation of the items of Special Business.

Directors’ Responsibilities
A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities in respect 
of the preparation of financial statements is given in the
Corporate Governance section on pages 9 and 10.

By Order of the Board
M J PEARCE, Secretary 26 November 2002

Lonmin Plc
4 Grosvenor Place
London SW1X 7YL

Registered in England 
Number 103002

Report of the Directors
For the year ended 30 September 2002
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Corporate Governance

Combined Code
In June 1998 The Committee on Corporate Governance,
chaired by Sir Ronald Hampel, published the Combined
Code containing Principles of Good Governance and a
Code of Best Practice.

Each UK company listed on the London Stock Exchange is
required to provide in its annual report and accounts a
narrative statement of how it has applied the Principles
affecting companies set out in the Combined Code with
sufficient explanation enabling its shareholders to
evaluate how the Principles have been applied.

The Principles cover four subject areas, namely directors,
directors’ remuneration, relations with shareholders
and accountability and audit.

The Principles are amplified by a set of 45 provisions with
which the Company complies and complied throughout
the year.

With the exception of the Principles relating to directors’
remuneration (which are covered in the Directors’ Report
on Remuneration) the Board has applied the Principles as
follows:–

Directors
The Company is led and controlled by the Board of
Directors which has nine members, four of whom are
non-Executive. The Board meets regularly, at least every
other month, but more frequently if necessary, and once a
year (twice a year from 2003) in South Africa and receives
regular and timely information in a form and of a quality
to enable it to discharge its duties. In addition certain
Directors are also directors of the principal operating
subsidiaries. The Board retains full responsibility for the
direction and control of the Company and no strategic
powers were delegated to any committee in the year 
under review. All Directors have access to the services of
the Company Secretary and are entitled to take
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expense.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive are clearly
separated. All Directors have equal responsibilities as
directors and bring an independent judgement to bear on
key issues, but the Board has been structured with the
Executive Directors having responsibility for running the
Company’s business and the non-Executive Directors, all
of whom are independent of management, bringing
experience from other fields. This results in no one
individual or group of individuals being able to dominate

the Board’s decision taking. In addition, Sir Alastair
Morton, is designated as the Senior Independent Director
to whom concerns can be conveyed in addition to the
Chairman.

To permit a formal and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board, the Board has
a Nomination Committee currently comprising 
Mr J R B Phillimore (Chairman) and Mr P C Godsoe. 
Its function is to review on an ongoing basis and at least
annually the membership of the Board and recommend 
to the Board any proposed changes, be they executive or
non-executive.

All Directors submit themselves to shareholders for 
re-election at least every three years.

Relations with shareholders
The Principles encourage a dialogue with institutional
shareholders based on the mutual understanding of
objectives. The Directors have a regular dialogue with
institutional shareholders where they believe this to be in
the interests of shareholders generally. The Company also
has a website containing up-to-date information.

The Principles encourage boards to use the Annual
General Meeting to communicate with private investors
and to encourage their participation. The Board has
followed this particular Principle for a great number of
years.

Accountability and Audit
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss for that period. In
preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group will continue in business.
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Corporate Governance

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper
accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985. They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Board’s objective is to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position
and prospects, particularly in the annual review and
interim report.

In 1993 the Board established an Audit Committee which
now comprises Sir Alastair Morton (Chairman), 
Sir John Craven and Mr J R B Phillimore. The Committee
will meet at least four times a year, twice in South Africa,
and the Finance Director and the external and internal
auditors are invited to attend as appropriate. The principal
objectives of the Committee are to review the annual and
half yearly financial statements prior to their submission
to the Board; to review accounting policies; to receive
reports from the Group’s internal auditors who monitor
the effectiveness of business and financial controls; to
receive reports from the internal auditors on internal
controls and to review with management and the external
auditors the effectiveness of internal controls; to review
the scope and results of the external audit and its cost
effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the
auditors; to ensure compliance by the Group with the
principles of the Combined Code relating to Accountability
and Audit; and to receive reports from the Risk
Committee on the effective management of the major
risks to which the business is exposed on a day to day basis.

The Combined Code requires a report that the business is
a going concern and a report that the Directors have
reviewed the system of internal control which they are
required to maintain in order to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets.

Going Concern
The Directors consider that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future, and that it is therefore appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements. The Directors have satisfied themselves that
the Group is in a sound financial position and that
sufficient borrowing facilities will be available to meet the
Group’s foreseeable cash requirements.

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Company has complied with the Combined Code
provisions on internal control.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s
system of internal control and for reviewing its
effectiveness whilst the role of management is to
implement Board policies on risk and control. The system
of internal control is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the business
objectives. In pursuing these objectives, internal controls
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

There is a continuous process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks faced by the Company
which has been in place for the year under review and up
to the date of approval of the Annual Report and
Accounts. This process is regularly reviewed by the Board.

The processes used by the Board to review the
effectiveness of the system of internal control include the
following. During the year:

(i) The Audit Committee

– reviews the external and internal audit work plans;

– considers reports from management, internal and
external audit on the system of internal control and
any material control weaknesses; and

– discusses with management the actions taken on
problem areas identified by Board members or in
the internal/external audit reports.

(ii) The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the
risk management process and significant risk issues
are referred to the Board for consideration.

(iii) The Risk Committee and The Lonmin Platinum
Safety, Health and Environment Committee meet on
a regular basis.

(iv) The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports the
outcome of the Audit Committee meetings to the
Board and the Board receives the minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings.

(v) The Risk Committee reviews the role of insurance in
managing risks across the Group. 

(vi) The Group’s management operates a risk
management process which identifies the key risks
facing each business and reports through the Risk
Committee to the Audit Committee on how these
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risks are being managed. Lonmin Platinum and the
Group produce a risk register which identifies their
key risks, the probability of those risks occurring,
their impact if they do occur and the actions being
taken to manage those risks to the desired level. 
The risk registers are incorporated into Combined
Assurance Plans which allocate responsibility for
managing risk to management. These risks are
discussed by the Risk Committee on a quarterly basis
and regular monitoring reports are received to update
it on progress. 

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the
following:

– The outcome of letters of assurance which are
completed by management confirming compliance
throughout the year with the Group’s policies,
procedures, risk management processes and other
matters;

– Reports on risk and internal control from
management, the internal and external auditors,
and the Combined Assurance Plan, including
schedules of significant risks; and

– Regular reports on any major problems that have
occurred during the year and how the risks have
changed over the period under review.

Social, Environmental and Ethical (SEE) Risks
The Group is committed to high ethical standards so that
business can be conducted honestly, fairly and legally. 
To this end the Risk Committee and the Lonmin Platinum
Safety, Health and Environment Committee take regular
account of the significance of SEE matters to the business
of the Group and have identified and assessed the
significant risks to the Group’s short and long term value
arising from SEE matters, as well as the opportunities to
enhance value that may arise from dealing with these
issues. The Committees have received adequate
information as part of this overall risk review process to
make this assessment. SEE risks are managed no
differently from other risks and the Group’s policies and
procedures for managing all risks are fully complied with
on an ongoing basis. The Corporate Accountability
Statement on pages 20 and 21 of the Annual Review
contains further information on the subject.
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The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in
November 1993. Its principal function is to determine
remuneration policy and the remuneration packages of 
the Executive Directors and senior employees.

The Committee comprises Mr J R B Phillimore
(Chairman), Mr P C Godsoe and Sir Alastair Morton who
are non-Executive Directors having no financial interest
other than as shareholders in the matters to be decided, 
no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-
directorships and no day-to-day involvement in running
the business of the Group.

The Combined Code
The Combined Code (referred to on page 9) contains three
Principles relating to Directors’ remuneration, which have
been applied as noted in this Report. The three Principles
are amplified by 21 provisions with all of which the
Company complies and complied throughout the year.

Remuneration Policy
Executive Directors

The Remuneration Committee’s objective is to provide 
to the Executive Directors the remuneration packages
needed to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors
of the quality required without paying more than is
necessary for this purpose.

The Committee is aware what comparable companies 
are paying and takes account of relative performance. 
The Committee believes that the remuneration packages

of the Executive Directors are broadly comparable to those
awarded by other relevant companies.

With the exception of Mr G E Haslam, noted below, 
no Director during the year participated in any bonus
scheme. Apart from this, participation in share option
schemes was the only, but a significant, performance
related element attaching to each Executive Director’s
remuneration package.

The Committee’s policy on granting options under, and
the Directors’ participation in, the share option schemes 
is set out on pages 15 and 16. 

Non-Executive Directors

The fees of the non-Executive Directors are determined 
by the Board with the benefit of professional advice. 
In deciding an appropriate level of fees for each 
non-Executive Director, the Board considered the
responsibility and time commitments taking into account
the number of Board meetings, special meetings and the
time required for reading Board and other papers plus the
membership and chairmanship of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee plus Sir John Craven’s Chairmanship of 
the Board, together with extensive overseas travel by all 
non-Executive Directors on behalf of the Company.

Directors’ Remuneration
For the year ended 30 September 2002 the remuneration
packages of Directors were as follows:–

Directors’ Report on Remuneration

Directors’ Remuneration

Director Salar y Benefits Total for year Total for year
and fees in kind (1) to 30.9 .02 to 30.9 .01

£ £ £ £

Executive Directors
G E Haslam (2) 420,000 52,029 472,029 508,438

I P Farmer 241,500 35,694 277,194 131,966

S E Jonah (3) 50,000 – 50,000 50,000

J N Robinson 273,000 22,054 295,054 279,796

Non-Executive Directors
Sir John Craven 120,000 – 120,000 120,000

P C Godsoe (4) 41,984 – 41,984 –

Sir Alastair Morton 45,000 – 45,000 45,000

J R B Phillimore 60,000 – 60,000 60,000

Former Directors
P J Harper (5) 50,000 – 50,000 50,000
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Notes

1. Benefits in kind comprised mainly the provision of a motor car for the

use of Executive Directors and the provision of private medical

insurance and, in the case of Mr Haslam and Mr Farmer, a children’s

education allowance.

2. During the year Mr Haslam received no payment (2001: £82,000

which is within the total disclosed on page 12) under his bonus scheme.

3. The figures shown for Mr Jonah relate only to his remuneration as a

Director of the Company. He is an employee of Lonmin Plc, but is also

the Chief Executive of Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited, which

company reimburses Lonmin Plc all his other remuneration and his

benefits.

4. Mr Godsoe was appointed a Director on 29 November 2001 thus his

remuneration as Director in 2002 covered only the period from then

until the year end.

5. Mr Harper retired on 26 October 2002.

6. Although the Group’s functional currency is US dollars the figures

above are set out in sterling as this is the currency in which

emoluments are predominantly paid.

Service Contracts
Mr Haslam, Mr Farmer and Mr Robinson currently have
service contracts which temporarily required two years’
prior written notice of termination to be given to them.
From 1 January 2002 the notice period has reduced and
will reduce by one calendar month immediately following
the expiry of each calendar month until 1 January 2003,
from which date 364 days’ prior written notice will be
required to be given. If notice were given prior to 1 January
2003 and the director concerned were not required to
work out his notice period, his salary and the value of his
contractual benefits would be paid in lieu. Mr Jonah and
Mr Ledger are entitled to 364 days’ notice. Since the Board
has set as an objective that all Executive Directors should
have notice periods of 364 days or less, the Company does
comply and has complied throughout the year with the
provision of the Combined Code in this respect. Except
during the temporarily extended notice periods and with
the exception of Mr Ledger, there is no contractual
provision for compensation to be paid to any Executive
Director in lieu of notice. The non-Executive Directors 
are each appointed for a fixed period of three years, but
subject to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of
Association for retirement by rotation and for earlier
cessation for any other reason. No compensation is
payable to non-Executive Directors for loss of office, save
for arrears of fees.

Non-Group Directorships
Apart from Mr S E Jonah, no Executive Director holds 
any executive directorship or appointment outside the
Group. Mr G E Haslam is a director of Ashanti Goldfields
Company Limited and Furuya Metals Co Limited, Tokyo.
Mr Farmer is a director of the International Platinum
Association. Mr Jonah is the Chief Executive of Ashanti,
and, apart from Ashanti group companies, is a director of
several non-Group companies and organisations. 

Mr Jonah’s remuneration is referred to in Note 3 above. 
Mr Jonah does not retain any fees in respect of non-Group
directorships (other than in relation to Ashanti). Nor do
Mr Haslam and Mr Farmer. The Board believes that
directorships and appointments outside the Group can 
be appropriate if they help Directors gain additional
experience or promote the interests of the Group as 
a whole.

Pensions
Mr G E Haslam, Mr I P Farmer and Mr J N Robinson are
members of The UK Lonmin Superannuation Scheme
which is a contributory final salary scheme established as
an independent trust which provides benefits for
Directors and staff of Lonmin Plc. The Scheme is fully
funded and normal retirement age for all members in
service at or after 1 April 1998 is 60. The trust deed
requires members in service to make contributions to the
Scheme from salary and the Company to make such
contributions as are necessary. The Company was 
not required to make any such contributions during 
the year.

The Scheme is designed to enable all members to obtain 
a good standard of benefit from secure and well managed
investments within the Inland Revenue maximum at
normal retirement subject to their having completed
appropriate periods of service. The Scheme, which is
contracted-out of the State Earnings Related Pension
Scheme, complies with all relevant legislation, including
the Pensions Act 1995. Independent high-quality advice 
is used in administering the Scheme and managing 
the assets.

Pension commutation at retirement, in order that
participants may exchange part of their pension for a 
tax free lump sum within Inland Revenue limits, is
permitted.
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In the event of death whilst in service a capital sum 
equal to 4 x salary is payable together with a pension to a
qualifying spouse or dependant of 66.66 per cent of the
prospective pension which would become payable to the
member at age 60. In certain circumstances where there
are young children or children in full-time education 
or vocational training an allowance to them would also 
be payable.

In the case of death after retirement, a spouse’s pension 
of 66.66 per cent of the member’s pre-commutation
pension would be payable, revalued up to the time of
death. If the member’s death occurs within 5 years of
retirement, the balance of the 5 years’ unpaid pension
would also be payable. 

In the event of death after leaving service but prior to
retirement, a pension to a qualifying spouse or dependant
would also be payable.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Pensions Act 1995,
pensions accrued since 6 April 1997 are increased each year
once in payment by the lower of five per cent and the
increase in RPI (Retail Prices Index). Pensions in excess of
any Guaranteed Minimum Pension accrued prior to 6
April 1997 will increase by the lower of three per cent and
the increase in RPI.

The Inland Revenue Cap which restricts both pension 
and life assurance benefits for higher paid individuals who

became members on or after 1 June 1989 does not apply 
to Mr Farmer and Mr Robinson, each being members
before that date. It does apply to Mr Haslam and as a
consequence he benefits from an unfunded retirement
benefit scheme.

Mr S E Jonah has a personal pension arrangement. This is
a non-contributory arrangement funded entirely by the
Company which is reimbursed pursuant to an agreement
with Ashanti Goldfields Company Limited. No figures are
therefore given below for Mr Jonah.

Mr P J Ledger is a member of the Sentinel Mining Industry
Retirement Fund established in South Africa which is a
defined contribution fund to which members contribute
7.5 per cent of their salaries and their employer contributes
a total of 20.52 per cent towards the retirement, disability
and death benefits of the Fund.

Prior to his joining the UK Scheme on 12 November 1999
Mr Haslam was a member of The Lonmin Superannuation
Scheme (Overseas) established in Jersey to provide
benefits broadly similar to those under the UK Scheme for
Directors and senior Group Executives employed
overseas. Mr Haslam maintains accrued benefits as a
deferred member in this scheme.

No element of a Director’s remuneration package other
than basic salary is pensionable.

Requisite information relating to pension benefits is:

Notes

1. The increase in transfer value represents the additional capital amount

necessary, less Directors’ contributions, to fund the increase in the

accrued pension (above inflation) that a Director would take with him

as part of the total transfer value if he were to leave the Company and

move his benefits to another scheme. The transfer value is not a sum

due to the Director.

2. The additional pension earned in the UK in the year is that in excess of

UK inflation at 1.7 per cent.

3. The pension entitlement shown above is that which would be paid

annually on retirement at age 60 based on service to 30 September 2002.

Director Age Years of Increase in Additional Accr ued
at ser vice at transfer pension pension

30.9.02 30.9.02 value (1) earned in entitlement
the year (2) at year end (3)

30.9.02
£ £ £

Current Directors
G E Haslam 58 16 409,813 24,377 128,920

I P Farmer 40 16 217,414 35,194 72,006

J N Robinson 48 23 72,605 8,596 119,798
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The pension entitlements shown exclude any benefit
which might be attributable to additional voluntary
contributions.

There is no undertaking for any other pension benefit to
be arranged for any Director by the Company.

Share Schemes
As noted below options were granted to three Directors
during the year. Directors are encouraged to hold the
shares issued to them upon the exercise of options.

The Remuneration Committee’s policy when granting
options is to provide Directors and employees with an
incentive to further the interests of the companies for
which they work and to permit them to benefit from an
improvement in the Company’s performance to which
they have thereby contributed. 

The Board is mindful of the limited availability of
managers in the South African recruitment market and
the consequent need to provide existing management
with meaningful remuneration and incentive packages.
Certain managers of Lonmin Platinum receive
performance bonuses paid in cash by Lonmin Platinum. 
In addition the Company has established an independent
trust which purchased shares of the Company in the
market in September 2001 and holds them for issue to
selected key management of Lonmin Platinum over a 
five-year period under the Lonmin Plc Share Plan. This is
designed as an employee retention scheme and not an
incentive scheme. Currently the trust holds 336,000
ordinary shares of US$1 each. For administrative and other
reasons the trust has not allocated shares outright to
participants, but has granted options over 324,240 of
them for a token consideration of £0.01 per share. The
trust has been funded by a loan from the Company of 
£3.7 million ($5.3 million). Mr P J Ledger was granted and
exercised options under The Lonmin Plc Share Plan prior

to his appointment as a Director. His interests in the Plan
are disclosed on page 6. No other Directors participate in
this arrangement.

Set out on page 16 are the options held over ordinary
shares of the Company by Directors.

Under The Lonmin Share Option Scheme 1994 and The
Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme the exercise of
options granted before 1998 was subject to attainment of
the performance condition that, over a consecutive three-
year period, the total return to shareholders was greater
than the total return on the FTSE Actuaries All-Share
Index during the same period. That condition was
attained during 2000 and the options became exercisable.
The exercise of options granted from 1998 under those
schemes is subject to attainment of a similar performance
condition, but the total return to shareholders must be
greater than the total return on the Mining (formerly
Extractive Industries) Sector of the FTSE Actuaries Share
Indices. The condition attaching to the options granted in
1998 and 1999 was attained in 2001 and 2002 respectively
and the options became exercisable. Further information
on the performance condition is given in Note 21 to the
accounts. No performance condition attaches to options
granted under the other schemes.

For the 1999 grant the total return to Lonmin shareholders
grew between 31 March 1999 and 30 March 2002 by
196.40 per cent compared with 106.12 per cent growth in
the total return on the Mining Sector of the FTSE
Actuaries All-Share Index.

Except under the savings related share option schemes and
the Lonmin Plc Share Plan no options have been granted
with an exercise price at a discount to the market price at
the time the exercise price was set.

No options were held by the non-Executive Directors.
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Notes

1. The Share Option Schemes concerned are:

(a) The Lonmin Overseas and Associate Share Option Scheme

(b) The Lonmin Share Option Scheme 1994

(c) The Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme (formerly 

The Lonmin Overseas and Associate Share Option Scheme 1994)

(d) The Lonmin Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994.

2. The market price is the market price per share on the date of exercise. 

3. The notional pre-tax gain is the difference between the market price

and the exercise price. The total notional pre-tax gains made by

Directors during the year were £2,836,619 (2001 : Nil).

4. The options of Mr Ledger are shown only as at 26 November 2002 since

he was only appointed a Director on 21 November 2002.

5. All options were granted for no cash consideration.

6. Other than as disclosed above, no options held by Directors were

exercised or lapsed during the year or since.

7. By way of comparison with the exercise prices, the middle market

quotation for the Company’s ordinary shares, as derived from 

the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List, was 848.5p on 

30 September 2002, as compared with the high and low quotations 

for the financial year of 1275p and 710p respectively.

Number of shares Exercise Name of Date of Date from Expir y Options Exercised
under option Price Scheme (1) Grant which Date

normally
first 

exercisable
1.10.01 30.9.02 Date No of Exercise Market Notional

and of Shares Price Price (2) Pre-tax 
26.11.02 Exercise Gain (3)

Shares Shares 
of £1 of US$1 Pence Pence Pence £

I P Farmer
45,000 250 (c) 28.8.98 28.8.01 28.8.08 5.12.01 45,000 250 1029 350,550

60,000 60,000 668.5 (c) 8.6.00 8.6.03 8.6.10

2,018 2,018 836 (d) 15.6.01 1.8.06 31.1.07

24,400 1150 (c) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

2,600 1150 (b) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

107,018 89,018 350,550

G E Haslam
60,000 250 (c) 28.8.98 28.8.01 28.8.08 30.11.01 60,000 250 940 414,000

90,000 90,000 668.5 (c) 8.6.00 8.6.03 8.6.10

2,018 2,018 836 (d) 15.6.01 1.8.06 31.1.07

45,400 1150 (c) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

2,600 1150 (b) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

152,018 140,018 414,000

S E Jonah
7,831 241.0262 (a) 1.7.92 1.7.95 1.7.02 26.2.02 7,831 241.0262 1181 73,609

15,662 15,662 375.1070 (a) 1.7.93 1.7.96 1.7.03

31,324 31,324 434.1664 (c) 4.8.94 4.8.97 4.8.04

130,000 250 (c) 28.8.98 28.8.01 28.8.08 6.6.02 130,000 250 1202 1,237,600

184,817 46,986 1,311,209

P J Ledger (4)

60,000 668.5 (c) 8.6.00 8.6.03 8.6.10

22,170 1150 (c) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

82,170

J N Robinson
3,132 408.6272 (b) 20.7.94 20.7.97 20.7.04 5.12.01 3,132 408.6272 1029 19,430

3,132 490.0334 (b) 14.2.95 14.2.98 14.2.05 5.12.01 3,132 490.0334 1029 16,880

45,000 250 (c) 28.8.98 28.8.01 28.8.08 5.12.01 45,000 250 1029 350,550

7,986 7,986 216 (d) 9.9.98 1.11.03 30.4.04

50,000 453 (c) 1.4.99 1.4.02 1.4.09 5.6.02 50,000 453 1201 374,000

60,000 60,000 668.5 (c) 8.6.00 8.6.03 8.6.10

24,400 1150 (c) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

2,600 1150 (b) 1.7.02 1.7.05 1.7.12

169,250 94,986 760,860
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Lonmin Plc

We have audited the financial statements on pages 
18 to 56.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report. As described on pages 9 to 11, this includes
responsibility for preparing the financial statements in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and
accounting standards. Our responsibilities, as
independent auditors, are established in the United
Kingdom by statute, the Auditing Practices Board, the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and by
our profession’s ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and are properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. 
We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’
report is not consistent with the financial statements, if the
Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we
have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or if information specified by law or
the Listing Rules regarding Directors’ remuneration and
transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the statement on pages 9 to 11 reflects
the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of
the Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing
Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to
consider whether the Board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in both the
Annual Report and the Annual Review, including the
corporate governance statement, and consider whether 
it is consistent with the audited financial statements. 

We consider the implications for our report if we 
become aware of any apparent misstatements or 
material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing
Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. It also includes an assessment of 
the significant estimates and judgements made by the
Directors in the preparation of the financial statements,
and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion
we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
as at 30 September 2002 and of the profit of the Group for
the year then ended and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
Registered Auditor 
London

26 November 2002
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the year ended 30 September

2002 2001
Note $m $m

Turnover 1 697 866

EBITDA (2) 1 372 541

Depreciation (39) (51)

Group operating profit 2 333 490

Share of associate’s operating loss (2) –

Operating profit 331 490

Net interest receivable and similar items 4 1 33

Profit before taxation 1 332 523

Taxation 5 (75) (150)

Profit after taxation 257 373

Minority interest (72) (99)

Profit for the year 22 185 274

Dividends 6 (101) (110)

Retained profit for the year 84 164

Earnings per share 7 121.5c 153.7c

Diluted earnings per share 7 121.0c 152.4c

Dividends per share 6 72.0c 64.0c

Financial ratios

Tax rate (3) 37% 36%

Net debt to EBITDA 0.4 times (1.0) times

Notes

1. The results for both years relate to continuing operations.

2. EBITDA is Group operating profit before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

3. The tax rate has been calculated excluding exchange items as disclosed in note 5 on page 31.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at 30 September

2002 2001
Note $m $m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 887 774

Investments: 294 223

Associate 9 4 6

Other investments 10 290 217

1,181 997

Current assets
Stocks 11 41 30

Debtors 12 105 99

Investments 13 2 1

Cash and short-term deposits 34 528

182 658

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (188) (254)

Net current (liabilities)/assets (6) 404

Total assets less current liabilities 1,175 1,401

Creditors: amounts falling due 
after more than one year 15 (135) (6)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 18 (160) (150)

880 1,245

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 141 258

Share premium account 20 1 417

Revaluation reserve 22 16 17

Capital redemption reserve 22 88 73

Profit and loss account 22 429 312

Equity interests 675 1,077

Minority equity interest 23 205 168

880 1,245

Note

The reserves have been reclassified to show the capital redemption reserve separately and to include other

reserves in the profit and loss account as detailed in note 22 on page 45 of the Accounts.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 November

2002 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir John Craven, Chairman

J N Robinson, Finance Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 September

2002 2001
Note $m $m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 29 359 525

Returns on investment and servicing of finance (33) (71)

Interest – received 7 26

– paid (4) (9)

Dividends paid to minority (36) (88)

Taxation (181) (109)

Capital expenditure and financial investment 30 (230) (126)

Acquisitions and disposals 31 – (6)

Equity dividends paid (109) (110)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow before use of liquid resources (194) 103

and financing

Management of liquid resources 433 (98)

Financing (356) (17)

New long-term loans 130 –

Repayment of short-term loans (1) (2)

Issue of ordinary share capital 3 4

Share buybacks (128) (19)

Capital return (360) –

Decrease in cash in the year (117) (12)
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Statement of Total Consolidated Recognised Gains and Losses
For the year ended 30 September 

2002 2001
$m $m

Profit/(loss) for the year – Group 187 274

– Associate (2) –

Total consolidated recognised gains relating to the year 185 274

Consolidated Historical Cost Profits
For the year ended 30 September 

2002 2001
$m $m

Reported profit before taxation 332 523

Difference between an historical cost depreciation charge and 
the actual depreciation charge calculated on the revalued amount 2 2

Historical cost profit before taxation 334 525

Historical cost retained profit for the year 86 166

Reconciliation of Movement in Equity Interests
For the year ended 30 September 

2002 2001
$m $m

Total consolidated recognised gains relating to the year 185 274

Dividends (101) (110)

Retained profit for the year 84 164

Capital return (361) –

Share buybacks (128) (19)

Shares issued on exercise of share options 3 4

Other items – 2

Net (decrease)/increase in equity interests in the year (402) 151

Equity interests at 1 October 1,077 926

Equity interests at 30 September 675 1,077
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Lonmin Plc Company Balance Sheet
As at 30 September

2002 2001
$m $m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 1 1

Investments: 2,034 1,769

Subsidiaries 1,761 1,759

Other investments 273 10

2,035 1,770

Current assets
Debtors 196 250

Cash and short-term deposits 4 458

200 708

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (1,696) (1,494)

Net current liabilities (1,496) (786)

Total assets less current liabilities 539 984

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (130) –

409 984

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 141 258

Share premium account 1 417

Capital redemption reserve 88 73

Other reserves – 91

Profit and loss account 179 145

409 984

Note

The reserves have been reclassified to show the capital redemption reserve separately.

The notes to the Lonmin Plc company balance sheet can be found in note 34 on pages 54

to 55.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 26 November

2002 and were signed on its behalf by:

Sir John Craven, Chairman

J N Robinson, Finance Director



Lonmin Plc Annual Report & Accounts 2002 23

Statement on Accounting Policies

Basis of accounting 
The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, modified for the revaluation 
of certain assets, and in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards. 

The Group’s earnings stream is primarily US dollars and
the functional currency is the US dollar. The reporting
currency is also the US dollar. 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
contained in Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 from
presenting its own profit and loss account. 

Turnover 
Turnover represents sales of goods and services outside
the Group net of discounts and allowances and value
added taxation and includes commissions earned.
Turnover is recorded when the risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the purchaser. 

Basis of consolidation 
The Group financial statements consist of the results,
assets and liabilities of the Company and its subsidiaries.
The results of subsidiaries are included from the date of
acquisition. The results of subsidiaries sold are included
up to the date of sale. 

Some minor adjustments have been made to comparative
figures to put them on a consistent basis with the 
current year.

Goodwill 
On the acquisition of a company or business, fair values
reflecting conditions at the date of acquisition are
attributed to the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.
Where the cost of acquisition differs from the aggregate 
of these fair values, purchased goodwill arises. Goodwill
arising on acquisitions after 1 October 1998 is capitalised
and amortised over its useful life in accordance with 
FRS 10. Prior to 1 October 1998, goodwill was charged 

to reserves in the year of acquisition as a matter of
accounting policy and, in accordance with the transitional
arrangements of FRS 10, goodwill has not been reinstated
on implementation of FRS 10. No goodwill arose during 2002.

On the subsequent disposal or termination of a previously
acquired company or business, the profit or loss on
disposal or termination is calculated after charging or
crediting the amount of any related goodwill previously
charged to reserves or capitalised and not yet charged to
the profit and loss account. 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable and also at the end of the first complete
financial year following an acquisition in accordance with
FRS 11. 

Associates 
Investments in associates are accounted for under the
equity accounting method. An associate is a company,
other than a subsidiary, in which the Group’s interest 
is considered to be long term and is substantial and 
over which the Group exercises a significant influence. 

The consolidated profit and loss account includes the
Group’s share of the results of associates. The carrying
value of associates in the Group’s balance sheet comprises
the Group’s share of the net assets of associates. Goodwill
arising on acquisition of associates is included within
investments in associates and is written off over ten years.

Joint arrangements 
The Group has certain contractual arrangements with
other participants to engage in joint activities that do not
create an entity carrying on a trade or business of its own.
The Group includes its share of the assets, liabilities 
and cash flows in such joint arrangements, measured 
in accordance with the terms of each arrangement, which
is usually pro-rata to the Group’s interest in the joint
arrangement. 
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Other Investments 
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provisions
for impairments or at Directors’ valuations. The Group’s
investment in Ashanti is not accounted for as an associate
because the Group considers that it is unable to, and does
not, exercise significant influence over Ashanti’s operating
and financing policies and actions. Accordingly, the
Ashanti investment is shown as a fixed asset investment.
Only dividends received are treated as part of the
continuing operations of the Group. The investment in
Ashanti is stated at Directors’ valuation. 

Foreign currencies 
Subsidiaries that keep their accounts in currencies other
than their functional currency remeasure them into the
functional currency by the temporal method prior to
consolidation. This results in non-monetary assets and
liabilities being recorded at their historical cost expressed
in the functional currency whilst monetary assets 
and liabilities are stated at the closing exchange rate.
Differences on translation are included in the profit and
loss account. 

The principal US dollar exchange rates used in the
financial statements, expressed as the foreign currency
value of one US dollar, are as follows: 

2002 2001

Average exchange rates:
Sterling 0.68 0.69

South African rand 10.65 8.01

Zimbabwe dollar 415.97 117.84

Closing exchange rates:
Sterling 0.64 0.69

South African rand 10.54 8.77

Zimbabwe dollar 640.00 306.68

Exploration costs 
Exploration expenditure is analysed between its three
constituent parts and accounted for as follows: 

a) Replacement exploration 

This is defined as expenditure necessary to delineate
and quantify the reserves and resources required to
replace those extracted in any one accounting period,
and as such is an operating cost which is expensed 
as incurred. 

b) Expansion and new opportunities exploration 

Within or adjacent to a producing unit: 
These costs are expensed until a probable reserve has
been defined and confirmed by a Competent Person.
At that point further costs are capitalised and the asset
amortised over the estimated life of mine.

Greenfields or Brownfields:

These costs are expensed until an indicated resource
has been defined and confirmed by a Competent
Person. At that point further costs are capitalised.
Amortisation commences in the first year of
production after which amortisation is provided 
over the estimated life of the project. 

Research and development
Research and development costs, separate to exploration
expenditure, are accounted for in accordance with 
SSAP 13 and expenditure is written off in the period 
in which it arises. 

Statement on Accounting Policies
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Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost or valuation,
which are not updated under the transitional
arrangements of FRS 15 “Tangible Fixed Assets”, less
depreciation. Depreciation on fixed assets is provided on 
a straight line or units of production basis, as appropriate.
Previously all assets were depreciated on a straight line
basis. The effect of the change is not material. Assets are
depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives, or
over the remaining life of the mine, if shorter, to residual
value. The life of a mine is based on proven and probable
reserves. Depreciation rates for the principal assets of the
group are as follows: 

Shafts and underground – 2.6% – 20% per annum 
Metallurgical – 2.7% – 16.7% per annum 
Infrastructure – 2.7% – 20% per annum 
Other mining assets and 
equipment, plant and 
motor vehicles – 2.7% – 33.3% per annum  

No depreciation is provided on surface mining land which
has a continuing value and capital work in progress. 

Tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. When a review for
impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is
assessed by reference to the net present value of expected
future cash flows of the relevant income generating unit
or disposal value if higher in accordance with FRS 11. 

Leases 
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and
the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in
borrowings. Operating lease rentals are charged to the
profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the
period of the lease. 

Capitalised interest
Tangible fixed assets include directly attributable finance
costs which are capitalised gross of tax during the period
of construction. 

Stocks 
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost (which includes 
the applicable proportion of production overheads) and
net realisable value. PGM’s stock is valued by allocating
costs to platinum, palladium and rhodium stock based 
on the annual cost of production, less revenue from 
by-products, apportioned according to the quantities of
each of the three main metals produced. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is provided for on timing differences that
have originated but not reversed by the balance sheet 
date on a non-discounted basis. Deferred tax assets are
recognised only to the extent that it is more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which
future reversal of the underlying timing differences can 
be deducted.

Pension costs and other post -retirement benefits 
The Group operates a number of defined benefit and
defined contribution pension schemes in accordance 
with local regulations. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group and are administered
by trustees. Independent actuaries prepare valuations of
these schemes at least every three years and in accordance
with their recommendations the Group makes
contributions which are charged to profits on a systematic
basis over the expected remaining working life of the
employees. Any differences between the actuarial
valuation of the obligation and the value of assets in a
scheme are similarly charged or credited to profit before
taxation over the expected remaining working life of
employees in the scheme. 

Certain Group companies provide post-retirement
medical benefits to qualifying pensioners. The expected
costs of these benefits are charged to the profit and loss
account over the expected remaining service lives of the
relevant employees and are assessed in accordance with
the advice of qualified actuaries. 

Under the transitional arrangement of FRS 17 –
Retirement benefits, additional disclosures are required
for pension and other retirement benefits for the year
ended 30 September 2002 as shown in note 24 to the
Accounts on pages 46 to 49. 
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Rehabilitation costs 
Group companies are generally required to restore mine
and processing sites at the end of their producing lives to 
a condition acceptable to the relevant authorities. Such
costs are provided for in accordance with FRS 12 so that
rehabilitation costs are provided in full based on the best
estimates of the future costs to be incurred calculated on 
a discounted basis. As the provision is recognised, it is
either capitalised as part of the cost of the related mine or
written off to the profit and loss account. Where costs are
capitalised the impact of such costs on the profit and loss
account is spread over the life of the mine through the
accretion of the discount of the provision and the
depreciation of the increased costs of the mining assets. 

Use of estimates 
The preparation of financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Examples of where such estimates are made include the
valuation of pension schemes assets and liabilities where
discount, inflation and return rate assumptions are made
and in the calculation of rehabilitation liabilities which
involves projecting expected liabilities forward to the end
lives of the mines using an assumed inflation rate and
discounting these liabilities back to the present day using
an assumed discount rate. 

Dividend reinvestment program 
Under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan,
shareholders can elect for the whole of their cash
dividends to be reinvested to Lonmin Plc shares which 
are purchased on their behalf in the market. All cash
dividends are paid to the Registrars who use the dividends
of participants in the plan to fund these purchases.
Accordingly, no new shares are issued, dividends are paid
and accounted for in the normal way, and there are no
special accounting requirements for the programme.

Statement on Accounting Policies
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Notes to the Accounts

1 Segmental analysis
By business origin:

2002

Operating Profit Net operating
Turnover EBI TDA profit before tax assets

$m $m $m $m $m

Platinum 638 387 348 346 799

Gold 59 6 6 6 292

Exploration – (10) (12) (12) –

Other – (1) (1) (1) –

Corporate – (10) (10) (7) 3

697 372 331 332 1,094

South Africa 638 377 338 336 792

Zimbabwe 59 6 6 6 15

Ghana – – – – 277

Europe – 9 9 9 (1)

Australia – (6) (8) (8) 5

Canada – (3) (3) (3) –

Asia and other – (1) (1) (1) 3

Corporate – (10) (10) (7) 3

697 372 331 332 1,094

2001

Operating Profit Net operating
Turnover EBI TDA profit before tax assets

$m $m $m $m $m

Platinum 815 553 516 518 571

Gold 51 5 (9) 1 213

Exploration – (2) (2) (2) –

Other – (4) (4) (4) –

Corporate – (11) (11) 10 5

866 541 490 523 789

South Africa 815 539 502 504 559

Zimbabwe 51 5 (9) 1 13

Ghana – – – – 200

Europe – 10 10 10 (1)

Australia – (2) (2) (2) 10

Asia and other – – – – 3

Corporate – (11) (11) 10 5

866 541 490 523 789

Net operating assets exclude net (borrowings)/cash and deposits and dividends.
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1 Segmental analysis continued
Turnover by destination is analysed by geographical area below:

2002 2001
$m $m

The Americas 219 279

Asia 199 253

Europe 124 158

South Africa 93 120

Zimbabwe 62 56

697 866

Notes to the Accounts
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2 Group operating profit
Group operating profit is arrived at as follows:

2002 2001
$m $m

Turnover 697 866

Cost of sales (336) (333)

Gross profit 361 533

Administration expenses (24) (25)

Exploration (10) (2)

Other operating charges 6 (16)

Group operating profit 333 490

Group operating profit is stated after charging:

2002 2001
$m $m

Operating lease charges – land and buildings 1 2

Depreciation charge – owned tangible assets 38 50

– finance leased tangible assets 1 1

Foreign exchange losses – (20)

The depreciation charge of owned tangible assets of $50 million in 2001 includes an

impairment of $12 million on fixed assets held in Zimbabwe.

Fees payable to KPMG Audit Plc and its associates are analysed as follows:

2002 2001
$m $m

Audit remuneration – UK – the Company 0.3 0.3

– overseas 0.2 0.3

0.5 0.6

Due diligence – UK 0.1 –

– overseas 0.5 –

0.6 –

Capital return – UK 0.3 –

– overseas – –

0.3 –

Accounting/tax advice – UK 0.2 0.9

– overseas 0.1 –

0.3 0.9

Internal audit – UK – –

– overseas 0.2 0.3

0.2 0.3

1.9 1.8
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3 Employees 
The average number of employees and directors during the year was as follows:

2002 2001
No. No.

South Africa 19,565 18,411

Zimbabwe 4,479 4,478

Europe 27 28

24,071 22,917

The aggregate payroll costs of employees and directors were as follows:

2002 2001
$m $m

Wages and salaries 106 129

Social security costs 9 9

Other pension costs 9 9

124 147

Total Directors’ emoluments 2.1 1.9

Emoluments of highest paid Director 0.7 0.7

Payment in lieu of notice – 1.0

Full details of Directors’ remuneration, pensions and benefits in kind are given in the

Directors’ report on remuneration on pages 12 to 16.

4 Net interest receivable and similar items

2002 2001
$m $m

Interest payable:
On bank loans and overdrafts wholly repayable within five years (3) (3)

Other loans (1) (1)

Finance leases (1) (1)

(5) (5)

Interest receivable on cash and deposits 5 25

Exchange differences on net debt 1 13

Net interest receivable and similar items 1 33

Notes to the Accounts
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5 Taxation

2002 2001
$m $m

United Kingdom:
Corporation tax at 30% (2001 – 30%) 37 119

Double tax relief (37) (119)

– –

Overseas:
Current taxation 63 157

Excluding tax on local currency exchange profits 71 131

On local currency exchange profits 5 6

Tax on dividends remitted 16 38

Prior year adjustments – 1

Exchange on current taxation (29) (19)

Deferred taxation 12 (7)

Origination and reversal of timing differences 36 20

Exchange on deferred taxation (24) (27)

Tax charge 75 150

Tax charge excluding exchange 123 190

Effective tax rate excluding exchange 37% 36%

A reconciliation of the standard tax charge to the current tax charge is as follows:

2002 2001
$m $m

Tax charge at standard tax rate 100 157

Overseas taxes on dividends remitted by subsidiary companies 16 38

Prior year losses utilised (4) (13)

Other timing differences (25) (12)

Effect of exchange adjustments (24) (13)

Current tax charge 63 157

The Group’s primary operations are based in South Africa. Therefore, the 

relevant standard tax rate for the Group is the South African statutory tax rate of 

30% (2001 – 30%). The secondary tax rate on dividends remitted by South African

companies is 12.5% (2001 – 12.5%).
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6 Dividends

2002 2001
$m $m

Interim 30.0c (2001 – 24.0c) per share 42 43

Final 42.0c (2001 – 40.0c) per share 59 67

101 110

Until 31 March 1999, advanced corporation tax (ACT) was paid on dividends at the 

rate of 25% of the net dividend. Subject to certain restrictions, this was recoverable 

by offsetting it against corporation tax liabilities. When this offset was not available

surplus ACT was generated.

At the year end, the Group had surplus ACT of $105 million (2001 – $105 million)

carried forward and available, subject to certain restrictions, for set-off against future

United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities. The notional “Shadow ACT”, being 

the ACT which would have been payable if the system had not been abolished 

and which must be set-off prior to utilisation of surplus ACT, amounts to $100 million 

(2001 – $70 million).

7 Earnings per share

Earnings per share have been calculated on the profit attributable to shareholders

amounting to $185 million (2001 – $274 million) using a weighted average number of

152,251,293 ordinary shares (2001 – 178,264,503 ordinary shares).

As the table below illustrates, diluted earnings per share are based on the weighted

average number of ordinary shares in issue adjusted by dilutive outstanding share

options during the year as follows:

2002 2001

Profit for Per share Profit for Per share
the year Number of amount the year Number of amount

$m shares cents $m shares cents

Basic EPS 185 152,251,293 121.5 274 178,264,503 153.7

Share option schemes – 650,512 (0.5) – 1,557,158 (1.3)

Diluted EPS 185 152,901,805 121.0 274 179,821,661 152.4

Notes to the Accounts



Lonmin Plc Annual Report & Accounts 2002 33

8 Tangible assets

Other 
equipment

Capital Other plant
Shafts and Metal- Infra- work in mining and motor

underground lurgical structure progress assets vehicles Total
Group $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cost or valuation:
At 30 September 2001 379 267 157 40 145 2 990

Additions 28 26 16 79 3 – 152

At 30 September 2002 407 293 173 119 148 2 1,142

Depreciation:
At 30 September 2001 94 40 42 – 39 1 216

Charge for the year 18 12 5 – 4 – 39

At 30 September 2002 112 52 47 – 43 1 255

Net book value:
At 30 September 2002 295 241 126 119 105 1 887

At 30 September 2001 285 227 115 40 106 1 774

Included in other mining assets are leased assets with a cost of $7 million 

(2001 – $7 million) and a net book value of $3 million (2001 – $5 million).

Cost or valuation of tangible assets includes $55 million (2001 – $55 million) in respect

of capitalised interest. Interest capitalised during 2002 and 2001 was not material.

In accordance with the Group accounting policies no depreciation has been provided on

surface mining land having a book value of $8 million (2001 – $5 million).

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost to the Group with the exception of certain other

mining assets which are included at valuation as follows:

2002 2001
$m $m

Net book value:
Professionally valued in 1986 81 83

At cost 24 23

105 106
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Notes to the Accounts

9 Associate

Post-
Associate Goodwill acquisition

at cost written off reser ves Total
Group $m $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 6 – – 6

Loss for the year – (1) (1) (2)

At 30 September 2002 6 (1) (1) 4

The net assets of associate comprises:

2002 2001
$m $m

Share of net assets 1 2

Goodwill 3 4

4 6

Listed overseas – market value 4 3

The investment in associate of $4 million shown above (2001 – $6 million) represents

an investment of 39% made by the Group in August 2001 in Platinum Australia Limited,

a company incorporated in Australia. The principal activity of Platinum Australia is

mining exploration and its financial year end is 30 June.
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10 Fixed asset investments

Own shares Investments Provisions Total
Group $m $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 5 214 (2) 217

Additions – 77 – 77

Provided in the year (1) – (3) (4)

At 30 September 2002 4 291 (5) 290

2002 2001
$m $m

Net book value of investments shown above:
Listed on the London and overseas stock exchanges 205 209

Unlisted 85 8

290 217

Value at 30 September:
Listed (market value) – Ashanti 205 119

Listed (market value) – Other investments 5 6

Unlisted (Directors’ valuations) 85 8

The principal activity of Ashanti (incorporated in Ghana) is gold mining and the

Group’s direct interest in the ordinary share capital of Ashanti is 28% (2001 – 32%).

The aggregate amount of the capital and reserves of Ashanti as at 31 December 2001,

being the date of the latest available Annual Report and Accounts, was $338 million and

its profit for that year was $63 million.

During the year, the Company subscribed for $75 million mandatorily exchangeable

notes (MENs) in Ashanti and expenses on this transaction amounted to $2 million. 

This invesment was made to aid Ashanti with its financial restructuring plans and to

protect against the dilution in the value of Lonmin’s stake. Lonmin granted a call option

to the Government of Ghana (GOG) in relation to $28 million of the MENs whereby

GOG have a transferrable option to purchase the exchange shares issued upon exchange

of the MENs into Ashanti shares for $28 million. Put options were also granted in

relation to 12.4 million shares in Ashanti which were issued to Ashanti warrantholders

as a result of the early exercise of their warrants in Ashanti. The put options are at a

strike price of $3.00 per share and are exerciseable in three equal tranches on 28 April

2004, 28 October 2004 and 28 April 2005. Details of the number of put options and the

contingent liability outstanding at 30 September 2002 can be found in notes 17 and 19

on pages 41 and 42. 

Own shares comprise 336,000 ordinary $1 shares in Lonmin Plc held by the Lonmin Plc

Employee Share Trust to retain key management employees in the platinum operations

of the Group in South Africa. The purchase of the shares occurred during 2001 and was

on the open market and funded by Lonmin Plc. The trust has granted options over

32 4,2 40 of the shares to employees and the options are exercisable at any time, but

participants can only take possession of the shares in tranches on 1 January 2005 and 

1 January 2007, and normally only if they remain within employment of the Group. 

The market value of the shares in the trust at 30 September 2002 was $4 million 

(30 September 2001 – $5 million). There were no further purchases during 2002.
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Notes to the Accounts

10 Fixed asset investments continued

The number of shares in the trust decreased from 400,000 to 336,000 during the year

following the Lonmin capital reduction scheme whereby the trust received $1 million in

cash on the basis of £1.50 for each share held and 21 new shares for every 25 existing

shares held. The cash held in the trust and dividend income received is allocated to

employees with the shares. Interest and administration costs of the trust are charged to

the profit and loss account during the year and the assets of the trust are amortised over

the relevant vesting periods.

11 Stocks

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Raw materials and consumables 19 8

Work in progress 6 9

Finished goods 16 13

41 30

12 Debtors

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 84 88

Other debtors 13 10

Prepayments and accrued income 8 1

105 99

13 Current asset investments

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Unlisted 2 1

Unlisted investments represent amounts held in trust to fund future rehabilitation

obligations.
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14 Short term creditors

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Bank loans and overdrafts – unsecured 56 1

Finance lease – secured (Note 16) 1 1

Trade creditors 17 14

Corporate taxation 8 126

Indirect taxation and social security 1 1

Other creditors 6 5

Accruals 40 39

Dividends 59 67

188 254

15 Long term creditors

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Bank loan – unsecured 130 –

Finance lease – secured (Note 16) 2 3

Corporate taxation 3 3

135 6
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Notes to the Accounts

16 Loans

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Short-term loans:
Bank loan – unsecured 130 –

Finance lease – secured 3 4

133 4

Deduct instalments repayable within one year (Note 14) (1) (1)

132 3

The unsecured bank loan bears interest at commercial rates. The secured loan of 

$2 million (2001 – $3 million) represents a finance lease obligation on security

surveillance equipment in South Africa bearing interest at an effective rate of between

12–13%. The lease term is 3 years (2001 – 4 years).

The loans are repayable over the following periods:

2002 2001
$m $m

Between one and two years:
Secured 1 1

Between two and five years:
Secured 1 2

Unsecured 130 –

132 3
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17 Financial Risk Management

The Group’s functional currency is the US dollar. The Group does not undertake 

any trading activity in financial instruments. Details of the Group’s financial risk

management are described in the Financial Review on pages 3 and 4.

17a Interest rate risk

At floating interest rates

2002 2001
$m $m

Financial liabilities
US dollar 130 –

SA rand 59 4

Zimbabwe dollar – 1

189 5

2002 2001
$m $m

The financial liabilities of the Group comprise:
Total borrowings 189 5

Floating rate financial liabilities comprise bank borrowings and overdrafts bearing

interest at the applicable inter-bank offer rates or prime lending rates and a finance 

lease obligation outstanding in South Africa.

At floating interest rates

2002 2001
$m $m

Financial assets
US dollar 28 509

SA rand 4 14

Sterling 3 6

Zimbabwe dollar 1 –

36 529

2002 2001
$m $m

The financial assets of the Group comprise:
Cash and short-term deposits 34 528

Current asset investments 2 1

36 529

Floating rate financial assets comprise mainly bank deposits bearing interest at

commercial rates fixed by reference to LIBOR for sterling and US dollar assets, or the

applicable inter-bank interest rates for all other financial assets.
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Notes to the Accounts

17 Financial Risk Management continued

17b Currency exposures

Lonmin’s operations are based predominantly in South Africa with the entire income

stream arising in US dollars. Cash held in South Africa is in US dollars and remitted 

on a quarterly basis to the UK. When short-term working capital facilities are required

in South Africa these are in US dollars or South African rand as appropriate.

The table below shows the extent to which Group companies have monetary assets

and liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency. Foreign exchange

differences on retranslation of such assets and liabilities are taken to the profit and 

loss account:

Net foreign currency monetar y assets/(liabilities)

2002 2001

SA rand Sterling Zimbabwe $ Total SA rand Sterling Zimbabwe $ Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Functional currency 
of Group operation:
US dollar (55) 3 1 (51) 10 6 (1) 15

The South Africa rand net monetary liabilities include bank overdrafts and an

outstanding finance lease obligation.

The sterling net monetary assets comprise bank deposits held in Head Office

companies.

The Zimbabwe dollar net monetary assets comprise bank deposits.

17c Maturity of financial liabilities

2002 2001
$m $m

In one year or less, or on demand 57 2

In more than one year but not more than two years 1 1

In more than two years but not more than five years 131 2

189 5
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17 Financial Risk Management continued

17d Undrawn committed borrowing facilities

The Group’s policy on overall liquidity is to ensure that there are sufficient 

committed facilities in place which, when combined with the cash resources available,

are sufficient to meet the funding requirements in the foreseeable future.

2002 2001
$m $m

Expiring in one year or less 178 77

Expiring in more than one year but not more than two years – 17

Expiring in more than two years 87 165

265 259

17e Fair value of financial instruments

2002 2001

Book Fair Book Fair
value value value value

$m $m $m $m

Cash and short-term deposits 34 34 528 528

Current asset investments 2 2 1 1

Borrowings falling due 
within one year (57) (57) (2) (2)

Other borrowings falling due 
after more than one year (132) (132) (3) (3)

Ashanti put options – (3) – –

(153) (156) 524 524
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18 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Post-
retirement

Deferred Site medical
tax rehabilitation benefits Total

Group $m $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 137 8 5 150

Charge for the year 36 1 (2) 35

Additions – 2 – 2

Utilisation – – (2) (2)

Exchange differences (24) (1) – (25)

At 30 September 2002 149 10 1 160

2002 2001
$m $m

Deferred tax comprises:
Accelerated capital allowances 155 144

Other timing differences (6) (6)

Losses carried forward – (1)

149 137

At 30 September 2002, the Group had $31 million (2001 – $34 million) of operating 

loss carry forwards with no expiration date and $167 million of capital losses as at 

30 September 2002 (2001 – $173 million) with no expiration date. An amount of 

$105 million (2001 – $105 million) of surplus Advanced Corporation Tax (ACT) is also

available, subject to certain restrictions, for set-off against future United Kingdom

corporation tax liabilities. ‘Shadow ACT’ amounts to $100 million (2001 – $70 million)

and must be set off prior to the utilisation of surplus ACT. No net deferred tax assets

have been recognised in respect of the operating losses, the capital losses or the surplus

ACT as it is not considered more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits

from which the future reversal of any of the underlying differences can be deducted.

19 Contingent liabilities

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Third party guarantees 11 7

Ashanti put options 3 –

14 7

Third party guarantees mainly include tax warranties and other guarantees provided by

the Company in connection with the sale of certain subsidiaries during 1996 to date.

The Ashanti put options are described in the Financial Review on pages 3 and 4. 

At 30 September 2002 there were 5.8 million put options outstanding at a strike price 

of $3.00 per share. This reduced to 2.5 million put options outstanding at 

22 November 2002.

There were no contingent liabilities in respect of litigation.
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20 Called up share capital and share premium account

2002 2001
$m $m

Authorised
252,735,000 Ordinary shares of $1 each 253 438

(2001 – 300,875,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each)
50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each – –

Issued
140,967,755 Ordinary shares of $1 each 141 258

(2001 – 177,397,997 Ordinary shares of £1 each, fully paid)
50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each – –

Paid up amount Share premium 
Issued $m $m

177,397,997 At 30 September 2001: 258 417

(i) The exercise of options under:
592,128 The Lonmin Executive Share Option Schemes 1 1

(at prices ranging from 241p to 490.0334p per share)
(10,000,000) (ii) Share buyback – October 2002 (15) –

Exchange differences (4) (7)

167,990,125 Prior to reduction and redenomination on the basis of 240 411

21 new ordinary $1 shares for every 25 existing £1 shares

Issued capital after reduction and redenomination:
50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each – –

141,111,705 Ordinary shares of $1 each 141 –

(i) The exercise of options under:
256,050 The Lonmin Executive Share Option Schemes – 1

(400,000) (ii) Share buyback – August 2002 – –

At 30 September 2002:
140,967,755 Ordinary shares of $1 each 141 1

50,000 Deferred shares of £1 each – –

Following approval by the Court in February 2002 the Company implemented a return of capital to

shareholders of $361 million, a capital reduction and the redenomination of its share capital.

The return of capital involved four stages:

(i) each existing ordinary share was subdivided and re-designated into one capital share of 25p and one

ordinary share of 75p;

(ii) the Company’s share capital was increased by the creation of premium shares with an aggregate

nominal value equivalent to the total of the share premium account and one premium share was

created for each existing ordinary share;

(iii) the share premium account was capitalised by paying up the newly created premium shares and

allotting them to the holders of the newly created ordinary shares of 75p each;

(iv) the newly created capital shares and premium shares were cancelled in return for payments of 25p

and 125p respectively, a total of 150p per share being paid to shareholders.
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20 Called up share capital and share premium account continued

The remaining balances on the share capital account of $39 million and the share premium account of 

$110 million were transferred to the Company’s reserves.

The capital reduction was achieved by the cancellation of the new issued ordinary shares of 75p each and

the authorised but unissued ordinary shares of £1 each and the creation of dollar shares of $1 each and

their subsequent allotment to the holders of the 75p shares in the ratio of 21 new dollar shares for every 

25 ordinary shares of 75p each. The redenomination of the share capital was thus effected by the issue of

dollar shares of $1 each.

In addition, because a Public Limited Company must have a minimum share capital of £50,000 in

sterling, £50,000 of sterling deferred shares of £1 each were created and issued to a nominee Company 

by the capitalisation of reserves. The deferred shares do not rank pari passu with the ordinary shares.

During the year the Company also bought back and cancelled 10,400,000 ordinary shares at a total cost 

of $128 million.

21 Share options

The grant of all options is made by the Remuneration Committee.

Exercises of options granted under The Lonmin Share Option Scheme 1994 and 

The Lonmin Executive Share Option Scheme are normally subject to the attainment 

of the performance condition that, over any consecutive three year period (starting not

earlier than the first day of the month in which the option is granted), the total return

to shareholders is greater than the total return during the same period on, (i) the 

FTSE Actuaries All-Share Index, for options granted prior to 1998, and (ii) the Mining

(formerly Extractive Industries) Sector of the FTSE Actuaries Share Indices, for options

granted from 1998. The method of calculation of the total return to shareholders is the

same method as used to calculate the total return figures published in the Financial

Times for the FTSE Actuaries All-Share Index and Mining Sector Indices. This method

assumes that the dividends which the Company pays during the period are reinvested

in its shares and takes account of the increase in the Company’s share price.

During the year options were granted over 1,32 4,900 shares of the Company at a

subscription price of 1,150 pence (1,785 cents) under The Lonmin Executive Share

Option Scheme and The Lonmin Share Option Scheme 1994 and over 6,207 shares of

the Company at a subscription price of 1,007 pence (1,563 cents) under The Lonmin

Savings Related Share Option Scheme 1994.
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21 Share options continued

At 30 September 2002, the following options were outstanding:

Options outstanding Aggregate of
(No. of shares subscription

and subscription prices Normal
price range) £m/$m exercise period

Executive Schemes 7 year periods 
expiring on 

or dates between: –
The Lonmin Overseas and 15,662 0.1/0.1 1.7.2003

Associate Share Option Scheme (375p)

(582c)

The Lonmin Share Option 56,200 0.6/0.8 1.7.2012

Scheme 1994 (1,150p)

(1,785c)

The Lonmin Executive 2,902,637 27.0/41.9 20.7.2004 – 1.7.2012

Share Option Scheme (250p – 1,150p)

(388c – 1,785c)

Savings Related Scheme 6 month periods
expiring on

dates between: –
The Lonmin Savings Related 79,047 0.3/0.5 31.4.2004 – 31.1.2009

Share Option Scheme 1994 (216p – 1,007p)

(335c – 1,563c)

3,053,546 28.0/43.3

Note

294 individuals held options under the share option schemes. 23 held options under the Savings Related Scheme and 294 held options

under the Executive Schemes.

The US dollar equivalents have been calculated by translating the sterling amounts at the exchange rate ruling at 30 September 2002.

22 Reserves

Capital
Revaluation redemption Profit and

reser ve reser ve loss account
Group $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 17 73 312

Profit for the financial year – – 185

Dividends – – (101)

Capital return – – 149

Share buybacks – 15 (128)

Transfers (1) – 1

Exchange differences – – 11

At 30 September 2002 16 88 429

Reserves have been reclassified to show the capital redemption reserve separately and to include 
other reserves in the profit and loss account.

Cumulative goodwill written off on acquisition of subsidiaries acquired since 
23 December 1989 amounts to $7 million (2001 – $7 million). 
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23 Minority interest

Minority interest includes proposed dividends amounting to $10 million (2001 – $9 million).

24 Pension costs

The Group operates a variety of funded pension schemes in the United Kingdom and overseas. The total pension cost for 
the Group was $9 million (2001 – $9 million), all of which related to overseas schemes, which were defined contribution plans. 
There were no accrued obligations under defined contribution plans.

The Group has continued to account for pensions in accordance with SSAP 24 and the disclosures given in (a) are those required
by the standard. FRS 17 – Retirement Benefits was issued in November 2000 but is not required to be fully adopted by the Group
until the year ended 30 September 2003. Transitional disclosures do, however, apply and have been detailed in (b).

(a) SSAP 24 Disclosures
In the United Kingdom, there are two defined benefit schemes, the Lonmin Superannuation Scheme (the LSS scheme) and the Scottish
and Universal Investments Scheme (the SUITS scheme). The LSS scheme applies to the current employees of the Group whereas the
SUITS scheme has no active members as it relates to pensioners and deferred pensioners of former subsidiaries of the Group.

The LSS Scheme 

The pension costs relating to the LSS scheme have been assessed in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries based on a
valuation conducted on 1 October 1999. At this date, the market value of the United Kingdom scheme assets, in aggregate, was
$116 million. Assets of the pension scheme were sufficient to cover 127 per cent of the benefits accruing to the members.

The United Kingdom pension charge has been assessed using the attained age method as approved under SSAP 24 with the
following principal growth rate assumptions:–

Investment return 6 per cent per annum 

Rate of increase in salaries 4 per cent per annum 

Rates of increases in pensions in payment 3 per cent per annum 

The SUITS Scheme

The pension costs relating to the SUITS scheme have been assessed in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries based 

on a valuation conducted on 6 April 1999. At this date, the market value of the United Kingdom scheme assets, in aggregate, 

was $179 million. Assets of the pension scheme were sufficient to cover 100 per cent of the benefits accruing to the members.

The United Kingdom pension charge has been assessed using the current unit method as approved under SSAP 24 with the
following principal growth rate assumptions:–

Investment return 8 per cent per annum 

Rates of increases in pensions in payment 5 per cent per annum 

The Overseas Schemes

In respect of overseas schemes, pension costs have been determined in accordance with the latest actuarial advice where

practicable and otherwise in accordance with local regulations.

The Group provides healthcare benefits for qualifying pensioners in South Africa. The costs of these benefits have been assessed
in accordance with the advice of qualified actuaries and are detailed in note 18 on page 42.

(b) FRS 17 Disclosures
The LSS Scheme

For the LSS scheme the actuarial valuation was conducted on 30 September 2002 using the following major assumptions:

Discount rate 5.5 per cent per annum (2001 – 6.5 per cent per annum)
Inflation assumptions 2.5 per cent per annum (2001 – 2.5 per cent per annum)
Rate of increase in salaries 4 per cent per annum (2001 – 4 per cent per annum)
Rate of increases in pensions in payment 2.5 per cent per annum (2001 – 2.5 per cent per annum)
Contribution rate in the year nil per cent per annum (2001 – nil per cent per annum)
Expected future contribution rate nil per cent per annum (2001 – nil per cent per annum)

Notes to the Accounts
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24 Pension costs continued

The assets and the expected rates of return are:–

2002 2001

Expected Expected
return return

% $m % $m

Insurance policies 5.0 61 5.0 50

Equities 8.0 33 7.0 44

Bonds 5.0 15 5.0 7

Total market value of assets 109 101

Limitation on the use of surplus (1) (16)

108 85

Present value of scheme liabilities (103) (79)

Surplus 5 6

Related deferred tax liability (2) (2)

Net pension asset 3 4

The net pension asset shown above has not been included in the primary statements.

An analysis of the amount which would be charged to operating profit is as follows:

2002
$m

Current service cost –

Past service cost –

Total operating charge –

An analysis of the amount which would be charged to other finance income is as follows:

2002
$m

Expected return on pension scheme assets (2)

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 2

Net return –

An analysis of the amount which would be recognised in the statement of total

recognised gains and liabilities (STRGL) is as follows:

2002
$m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (10)

Experience gains arising on scheme liabilities 1

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (6)

Actuarial loss recognised in the STRGL (15)
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24 Pension costs continued

The movement in the scheme surplus during the year is as follows:

2002
$m

Surplus in scheme at beginning of year 22

Movement in year:
Current service cost –

Contributions –

Past service cost –

Other finance income –

Actuarial loss (15)

Translation exchange (1)

Surplus in scheme at end of year 6

As at 30 September 2002, a Company funding requirement is anticipated based on an

actuarial valuation which is not expected to be material.

The assets and the expected rates of return are:–

2002 2001

Expected Expected
return return

% $m % $m

Insurance policies 5.0 132 5.0 132

Equities 8.0 13 7.0 18

Bonds 5.0 7 5.0 4

Total market value of assets 152 154

Present value of scheme liabilities (166) (155)

Net pension liability (14) (1)

The net pension liability shown above has not been included in the primary statements.

The SUITS Scheme

For the SUITS scheme the actuarial valuation was conducted on 30 September 2002 

using the following major assumptions:

Discount rate 5.5 per cent per annum (2001 – 6.5 per cent per annum)

Inflation assumptions 2.5 per cent per annum (2001 – 2.5 per cent per annum)

Rate of increases in pensions 

in payment 5 per cent per annum (2001 – 5 per cent per annum)

Contribution rate in the year nil per cent per annum (2001 – nil per cent per annum)

Expected future contribution rate see note below (2001 – nil per cent per annum) 
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24 Pension costs continued

An analysis of the amount which would be charged to operating profit is as follows:

2002
$m

Current service cost –

Past service cost –

Total operating charge –

An analysis of the amount which would be charged to other finance income is as follows:

2002
$m

Expected return on pension scheme assets (1)

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 1

Net return –

An analysis of the amount which would be recognised in the statement of total

recognised gains and liabilities (STRGL) is as follows:

2002
$m

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (5)

Experience losses arising on scheme liabilities (3)

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (5)

Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (13)

The movement in the deficit during the year is as follows:

2002
$m

Deficit in scheme at beginning of year (1)

Movement in year:
Current service cost –

Contributions –

Past service cost –

Other finance income –

Actuarial loss (13)

Translation exchange –

Deficit in scheme at end of year (14)
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25 Related party transactions

The Group’s related party transactions are summarised below:

2002 2001
$m $m

Sale of goods to minority shareholder 8.9 22.2

Amounts due to minority shareholder 0.7 0.4

Amounts due from minority shareholder 2.5 3.4

Refining charges paid to minority shareholder 0.5 4.7

Commissions paid to minority shareholder 2.6 4.3

Management contracts – costs incurred 0.8 0.7

Management contracts – fees reimbursed 0.8 0.7

Finance facility for housing provision in Zimbabwe – 0.1

The minority shareholder is Impala which holds a 27% stake in the platinum operations.

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 – Related party

disclosures not to disclose related party transactions between subsidiary companies.

26 Capital commitments

2002 2001
Group $m $m

Contracted for but not yet provided 70 21
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27 Operating and finance leases

The annual commitments of the Group under non-cancellable operating leases analysed

according to the period in which each lease expires were as set out below:

Land and buildings
2002 2001

Group $m $m

Operating leases which expire:
Between one and five years – 1

Over five years 1 1

1 2

Obligations under leases comprise:

Operating leases Finance leases
2002 2001 2002 2001

$m $m $m $m

Rentals due within 1 year 1 2 2 2

Rentals due after more 
than 1 year:

from 1 to 2 years 1 2 2 2

from 2 to 3 years 1 1 – 2

from 3 to 4 years 1 1 – 1

from 4 to 5 years 1 1 – –

After 5 years 2 2 – –

6 7 2 5

Total 7 9 4 7

less amounts representing interest (1) (3)

Present value of net minimum lease payments 3 4

Less current lease obligations (1) (1)

Non-current lease obligations 2 3

Obligations under finance leases are included in notes 14 and 15 to the Accounts on 

page 37.

28 Post balance sheet event

On 28 October 2002, the Company sold its gold mining interests in Zimbabwe 

to Pemberton International Investments Limited for $15.5 million paid in full 

on completion.
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29 Net cash flow from operating activities

2002 2001
$m $m

Group operating profit 333 490

Depreciation charge 39 51

Increase in stock (11) (10)

Increase in debtors (6) (19)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors 4 (8)

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (2) 1

Exchange – 20

Other 2 –

Net cash inflow from operating activities 359 525

30 Capital expenditure and financial investment

2002 2001
$m $m

Purchase of tangible fixed assets 152 115

Purchase of fixed asset investments 77 12

Purchase of current asset investments 1 1

Sale of current asset investments – (1)

Repayment of loans receivable – (1)

230 126

31 Acquisitions and disposals

2002 2001
$m $m

Investment in associate – (6)
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32 Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net (borrowings)/cash 
and deposits

2002 2001
$m $m

Balance at 1 October 523 422

Decrease in cash in the year (117) (12)

Cash (inflow)/outflow from management of liquid resources (433) 98

Cash (inflow)/outflow from loans (129) 2

Effect of exchange rate movements 1 13

Balance at 30 September (155) 523

33 Analysis of net (borrowings)/cash and deposits

At At
1 October Exchange 30 September

2001 Cash flow Transfers movements 2002
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash 95 (61) – – 34

Overdrafts (1) (56) – 1 (56)

94 (117) – 1 (22)

Liquid resources 433 (433) – – –

Loans due after one year (3) (130) 1 – (132)

Loans due within one year (1) 1 (1) – (1)

523 (679) – 1 (155)

Liquid resources represented cash held in short-term deposit accounts.
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34 Parent company disclosures

Plant, machiner y,
fixtures and

equipment
Tangible assets $m

Cost:
At 30 September 2001 and 2002 2

Depreciation:
At 30 September 2001 and 2002 1

Net book value:
At 30 September 2001 and 2002 1

Subsidiaries $m

Cost:
At 30 September 2001 1,829

Intergroup transfers 2

Disposals (10)

At 30 September 2002 1,821

Provisions:
At 30 September 2001 70

Written back in the year (10)

At 30 September 2002 60

Net book value:
At 30 September 2002 1,761

At 30 September 2001 1,759

Own
shares Investments Total

Fixed asset investments $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 5 5 10

Intergroup transfers – 187 187

Additions – 77 77

Provided in the year (1) – (1)

At 30 September 2002 4 269 273

Details of investments in own shares can be found in note 10 on pages 35 and 36.

2002 2001
$m $m

Net book value of fixed asset investments:
Listed 191 5

Unlisted 82 5

Value at 30 September:
Listed (market value) 209 5

Unlisted (Directors’ valuation) 82 5
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34 Parent company disclosures continued

2002 2001
Debtors $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts owed by subsidiary companies 192 248

Other debtors 2 2

Prepayments and accrued income 2 –

196 250

2002 2001
Creditors $m $m

Amounts falling due within one year:
Amounts due to subsidiary companies 1,629 1,421

Other creditors 5 4

Accruals 3 2

Dividends 59 67

1,696 1,494

2002 2001
Creditors $m $m

Amounts falling due after more than one year:
Bank loan – unsecured 130 –

The bank loan is repayable between two and five years from the balance sheet date and bears

interest at commercial rates.

2002 2001
Contingent liabilities $m $m

Third party guarantees 5 5

Guarantees for subsidiaries – 3

Ashanti put options 3 –

8 8

There are no contingent liabilities in respect of litigation. The Ashanti put options are

described in notes 10 and 19 on pages 35 and 42 respectively.

Capital
redemption Other Profit and

reser ve reser ves loss account
Reserves $m $m $m

At 30 September 2001 73 91 145

Profit for the financial year – – 12

Dividends – – (101)

Capital return – – 149

Share buybacks 15 – (128)

Transfers – (102) 102

Exchange differences – 11 –

At 30 September 2002 88 – 179

Reserves have been reclassified to show the capital redemption reserve separately. 

The profit of the Company for the 2001 financial year amounted to $62 million.
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Principal Group Companies

The following companies have been consolidated in the Group accounts and materially

contributed to the assets and/or results of the Group and are classified according to

their main activity.

Direct interest
in ordinar y Beneficial

Countr y of share capital interest Principal 
Mining and refining incorporation % % activities

Eastern Platinum Ltd. South Africa 73 73 Platinum mining
Western Platinum Ltd. South Africa 73 73 Platinum mining 

and refining
Independence Gold Mining (Pvt.) Ltd. Zimbabwe 100 100 Gold mining

A full list of Group companies will be included in the annual return registered with Companies House.

Five Year Financial Record
Year ended 30 September

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
$m $m $m $m $m

Turnover 697 866 951 896 1,773

Profit before exceptional items 332 523 395 190 188

Profit before taxation 332 523 414 188 140

Profit for the year before exceptional items 185 274 220 130 125

Cost of dividend (net) 101 110 90 46 46

Fixed assets 1,181 997 916 1,300 1,215

Net current (liabilities)/assets (6) 404 333 44 107

Total assets less current liabilities 1,175 1,401 1,249 1,344 1,322

Equity interests 675 1,077 926 733 641

Net (borrowings)/cash and deposits (155) 523 422 (197) (177)

Equity interests per share (cents) 479 607 521 459 407

Dividends per share (cents) 72.0 64.0 50.0 29.1 29.1

Notes

1. The 2000 figures have been restated for deferred tax.

2. Ashanti is consolidated as a fixed asset investment from 2000 onwards and as an associate in previous years.



Financial Highlights Continuing Operations

2002 2001

Profits

EBITDA (1) $372m $541m

Operating profit $331m $490m

Profit before tax $332m $523m

Earnings per share 121.5c 153.7c

Dividends per share 72.0c 64.0c

Cash flow
Trading cash flow per share 118.9c 242.9c

Free cash flow per share (4.6)c 129.0c

Balance sheet
Equity interests $675m $1,077m

Net (borrowings)/cash and deposits $(155)m $523m

Gearing (2) 23% nil

(1) EBITDA is Group operating profit
before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation.
(2) Gearing is calculated on the equity
interests of the Group.
(3) The Board recommends a final
dividend of 42.0 cents per share payable
on 17 February 2003 to shareholders on 
the registers on 24 January 2003. 

Important note

This document contains detailed financial and statutory information for the Lonmin Group for the year ended 30 September 2002. It should, however, be

read in conjunction with a separate document entitled Lonmin Plc Annual Review 2002.

EBITDA
$million

2001 2002

372

541

PBT
$million

2001 2002

332

523

EPS
cents

2001 2002

121.5

153.7

Trading cash flow per share
cents

2001 2002

118.9

242.9
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